

# DEMOGRAPHIC RESEARCH

# VOLUME 53, ARTICLE 3, PAGES 47–82 PUBLISHED 24 JULY 2025

https://www.demographic-research.org/Volumes/Vol53/3/ DOI: 10.4054/DemRes.2025.53.3

Research Article

# Special times? How COVID-specific concerns disrupted fertility desires in the United States during the COVID-19 pandemic

#### **Yining Milly Yang**

Grace Kao

This publication is part of the Special Collection on "The demographic impact of COVID mitigation policies," organized by Guest Editors Yu Xie and James M. Raymo.

© 2025 Yining Milly Yang & Grace Kao.

This open-access work is published under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 3.0 Germany (CC BY 3.0 DE), which permits use, reproduction, and distribution in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are given credit. See https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/3.0/de/legalcode.

# Contents

1	Introduction	48
2	Fertility responses to crises	49
2.1	Economic and material hardships	49
2.2	Culturally centered theories	50
3	How special is COVID-19?	51
4	Data and methods	53
4.1	Dependent variables	55
4.2	COVID-specific concerns	55
4.3	Hardships experienced during the pandemic	58
4.4	Control variables	58
4.5	Analytical strategy	58
5	Results	59
5.1	Descriptive findings	59
5.2	Regression results	64
6	Conclusion	68
	References	71
	Appendix	77

# Special times? How COVID-specific concerns disrupted fertility desires in the United States during the COVID-19 pandemic

Yining Milly Yang<sup>1</sup> Grace Kao<sup>2</sup>

### Abstract

#### BACKGROUND

Despite growing research on fertility during COVID-19, the precise mechanisms underlying fertility responses to the pandemic remain poorly understood.

#### **OBJECTIVE**

We specifically focus on COVID-19 mitigation policies and the health implications of COVID-19. We examine whether disruptions in fertility desires during COVID-19 can be attributed to material and emotional hardships – comparable to those observed in other crises – or if they are uniquely linked to broader concerns specific to the pandemic itself.

#### **METHODS**

We used original data from a nationally representative longitudinal survey on well-being during COVID-19 in the United States (N = 2,433). We first conducted exploratory factor analysis to examine the underlying relationships between various views related to the COVID-19 pandemic. Then we employed multinomial logistic regression and linear regression models to examine how COVID-specific concerns and hardships were associated with fertility desires in late 2020 and late 2021.

#### RESULTS

Material and emotional hardships were associated with less stable fertility desires in late 2020 and late 2021. However, generalized concerns related to the pandemic, including restrictions of daily activities due to social distancing and worries about contracting and spreading the virus, were associated with a decrease in fertility desires in late 2020, even after accounting for hardships. Suggestive evidence shows that these COVID-specific concerns remained negatively associated with fertility desires in late 2021.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Department of Sociology, Yale University, New Haven, CT, USA. Email: milly.yang@yale.edu.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Department of Sociology, Yale University, New Haven, CT, USA. Email: g.kao@yale.edu.

#### CONCLUSIONS

Beyond material and emotional hardships brought by COVID-19, concerns surrounding the pandemic itself may have had a distinct impact on fertility desires.

#### CONTRIBUTION

This study contributes to the mechanisms underlying fertility responses to the COVID-19 pandemic.

# 1. Introduction

It has been well documented that economic concerns associated with large-scale crises can disrupt fertility (Adsera and Menendez 2011; Comolli 2017; Eloundou-Enyegue, Stokes, and Cornwell 2000). While the COVID-19 pandemic certainly caused economic uncertainty and emotional difficulties as with other large-scale crises, it was also unique in its scale and in its mitigation. As a worldwide economic and health crisis, it brought profound material and emotional hardships to individuals while additionally requiring people to socially distance from one another. Perhaps equally important, it may have fundamentally changed how people think about their lives, at least in the short term. Specifically, adults of childbearing age may have been prompted to rethink their fertility decisions given their concerns surrounding the effects of COVID-19 beyond their individual material and emotional well-being. While prior research suggests that COVID-19 was associated with falling birth rates in the United States (Cohen 2021; Wilde et al. 2024), we actually know very little about the exact factors that may have disrupted fertility desires during the COVID-19 pandemic (Nitsche and Wilde 2024).

Prior studies on fertility responses to crises have primarily focused on how material hardships experienced during crises impact fertility preferences. During COVID-19, women with lower socioeconomic status, without health insurance, and with restricted access to contraception were more likely to change their fertility preferences than were more advantaged groups (Lin et al. 2021; Lindberg et al. 2020; Naya, Saxbe, and Dunton 2021; Rocca et al. 2022). This strand of research suggests that individuals with more material resources may have experienced fewer economic uncertainties and were therefore able to maintain their pre-pandemic fertility preferences. Yet culturally centered theories suggest that crises not only bring shocks to individuals' material well-being but may also affect their attitudes and beliefs about their lives, which in turn may change their fertility desires (Manning et al. 2022; Rodgers, John, and Coleman 2005). However, studies that examine the mechanisms underlying fertility responses to COVID-19 remain scarce. Fertility levels had already been declining in the United States prior to the

pandemic (Guzzo and Hayford 2020). It is thus critical for us to understand factors that may contribute to further declines during and following the COVID-19 pandemic.

In this study, we draw on two waves of a nationally representative longitudinal survey on well-being during COVID-19 in the United States to examine two research questions: (1) Can disruptions in fertility desires during the pandemic be explained by material and emotional hardships brought by the pandemic or by concerns surrounding the COVID-19 pandemic itself? (2) How persistently do COVID-specific concerns affect fertility desires? We argue that, above and beyond the material and emotional hardships brought by COVID-19, generalized concerns surrounding the pandemic itself may have had a distinct impact on people's fertility desires. This influence may be attributed to the interplay of various interconnected impacts related to the COVID-19 pandemic. Firstly, the unprecedented implementation of social distancing protocols, mandating individuals to restrict their daily activities, produced profound uncertainties in people's social interactions and had the potential to reshape their perspectives on childbearing. For instance, during the initial stages of the pandemic, universal hospital restrictions on family visitations may have prompted individuals who value familial presence during childbirth to delay their childbearing plans (Wright 2022). Furthermore, concerns about social distancing were deeply intertwined with health-related worries. Those who feared contracting COVID-19 or spreading the virus to their newborn children were also likely to restrict their daily activities based on social distancing guidelines. Both health concerns and the restriction of daily activities may have prompted individuals to change their childbearing plans. In addition, the limited availability of health care providers during lockdowns may have heightened uncertainty about the virus's health implications for pregnant women and their unborn children, particularly when in-person treatment options were scarce (Peivandi et al. 2022). Taken together, these pandemic-specific concerns may have independently influenced individuals' fertility desires during this period of heightened uncertainty, above and beyond the effects of material and emotional hardships.

# 2. Fertility responses to crises

#### 2.1 Economic and material hardships

It has been widely documented that natural and human-made disasters affect fertility. Catastrophic events can impact human fertility through various mechanisms. One mechanism involves the economic effects of disasters, suggesting that such events usually introduce economic uncertainties and practical hardships related to pregnancy. Economic theories compare children to durable goods, suggesting that couples' demands

for children tend to decrease in response to a decline in income (Becker 1960). Economic recessions, characterized by high unemployment, usually disrupt individuals' expectations regarding future incomes and lead couples to postpone childbearing. Research shows that rising unemployment following economic recessions has been associated with a significant decrease in total fertility rates in Europe, the United States, and Latin America (Adsera and Menendez 2011: Comolli 2017: Matysiak, Sobotka, and Vignoli 2021). On the other hand, when unemployment rates increase, the opportunity cost of having children may decrease for women due to lower income and a higher chance of being unemployed (Butz and Ward 1979). Therefore, periods of high economic uncertainty could be associated with increased fertility desires among women (Sobotka, Skirbekk, and Philipov 2011). Besides unemployment, disasters introduce other practical hardships related to pregnancy. Disasters can disrupt access to contraceptives and reproductive health services in various ways, including the closure of health care providers, safety concerns surrounding travel to health centers, inability to afford contraception, and supply shortages (Freed et al. 2021). Behrman and Weitzman (2016) found that disrupted access to injectable contraceptives during the 2010 Haiti earthquake was associated with increased unintended pregnancy.

Another perspective in the literature argues that people's *perception* of the economic uncertainty introduced by crises, rather than objective economic uncertainty itself, affects fertility behavior. Instead of focusing on objective indicators such as unemployment, inflation, and consumer confidence, this perspective focuses on how individuals perceive economic uncertainties. Perceived uncertainty about the future makes it difficult for couples to predict the cost of childbearing and thus may reduce confidence that they can guarantee the welfare of future children. Ranjan (1999) focuses on former Soviet bloc countries undergoing transition from a controlled economy to a market-based economy, showing that uncertainties about future income can lead people to postpone their childbearing plans. Similarly, Hofmann and Hohmeyer (2013), using data from the German Socio-Economic Panel, provided empirical evidence that women responded to economic concerns by reducing fertility in the next year. Gatta et al. (2022) further showed that the perception of resilience to job loss predicts fertility intentions among couples in Italy experiencing large-scale labor market deregulation.

#### 2.2 Culturally centered theories

Culturally centered arguments suggest that structural constraints alone cannot predict reproductive behavior or intentions (Vignoli et al. 2020). Instead, individuals' schemas, such as their ideas, values, beliefs, and patterns of thinking, shape people's intentions and actions (Johnson-Hanks et al. 2011; Manning et al. 2022). During disasters,

psychological hardships lead to shifts in individuals' attitudes and behavior related to childbearing. Attachment theory argues that, in response to elevated stress and threat, individuals seek physical proximity and support from loved ones (Bowlby 1969; Hazan and Shaver 1994). This proximity-seeking behavior among couples may lead to a higher frequency of sexual activity, consequently contributing to an increase in birth rates. Cohan and Cole (2002) provided empirical support for attachment theory. They found that in the aftermath of Hurricane Hugo in 1989, there was an observed increase in marriage and birth rates in the South Carolina counties declared disaster areas.

Replacement theory suggests that when parents observe the loss of children in the aftermath of disasters, they increase fertility desires to replace the lost lives (Davis 2017; Rodgers, John, and Coleman 2005). Several studies found support for the replacement theory, including a large increase in fertility following the 2004 Indian Ocean tsunami (Nobles, Frankenberg, and Thomas 2015), the Oklahoma City bombing (Rodgers, John, and Coleman 2005), and high-mortality earthquakes in India, Pakistan, and Turkey (Finlay 2009).

Nevertheless, the impact of disasters extends beyond individuals' direct experience of stress. Importantly, social support (both perceived and received) in the aftermath of stressful life events can serve as a protective factor against the stress induced by disasters (Norris and Kaniasty 1996). Social support helps pregnant women cope with stress associated with the loss of resources by fostering feelings of well-being and enhancing their sense of personal control (Costa et al. 2019). Therefore, emotional support received from social networks may potentially help individuals maintain their fertility plans during times of uncertainty, but evidence regarding this relationship has been lacking.

#### 3. How special is COVID-19?

As a worldwide economic and health crisis, the COVID-19 pandemic brought profound material and emotional challenges due to unemployment, social distancing, and worsening health conditions, mirroring the struggles seen in other catastrophic events. However, COVID-19 is unique in various ways. As an infectious disease, COVID-19 spread rapidly across the globe, affecting a substantial portion of the global population. Unlike disasters that had only short-term impacts, COVID-19 endured for more than three years and unfolded in multiple waves, introducing profound uncertainties regarding its long-term health implications. Due to its highly contagious nature, COVID-19 prompted countries worldwide to implement unprecedented mitigation policies, reshaping the fabric of daily life. Universal application of social distancing guidelines became a key strategy following the COVID-19 outbreak, requiring individuals to stay at home, work remotely, and restrict their daily behavior to minimize the risk of virus transmission. Thus

COVID-19 may have necessitated significant changes in individuals' attitudes and behavior, at least in the short term.

The pandemic was accompanied by a drop in fertility in the United States (Aassve et al. 2021; Cohen 2021; Sobotka et al. 2021). Yet the pandemic-related disruptions were not equally experienced by different demographic groups. During COVID-19, racial and ethnic minorities, individuals with lower household incomes, and those with limited access to contraception were more likely than more advantaged groups to change their fertility desires (Lindberg et al. 2020; Naya, Saxbe, and Dunton 2021; Rocca et al. 2022). Recent nationally representative findings suggest that such disparities persisted through late 2021 (Yang and Kao 2024). These studies indicate that individuals with more resources were better protected from the economic challenges brought by the pandemic and, as a result, were better positioned to maintain stable fertility desires.

Despite growing research on fertility responses to COVID-19, mechanisms underlying these fertility responses remain poorly understood, and evidence is mixed. Malicka, Mynarska, and Świderska (2021) found that in Poland, financial insecurity and decreased mental well-being during COVID-19 were associated with the postponement of childbearing. By contrast, Manning et al. (2022) suggest that pandemic-related subjective assessments, rather than economic indicators, were related to levels of fertility motivations during the pandemic. However, most of the respondents in their sample grew up in northwestern Ohio, and their data were collected before major spikes in pandemicrelated deaths. Studies that examine COVID-related challenges have mostly focused on financial insecurity and the loss of income (Lindberg et al. 2020; Luppi, Arpino, and Rosina 2020; Malicka, Mynarska, and Świderska 2021) while leaving other challenges arising from COVID-19, including the lack of social support, physical contact, and romantic connections, largely unexplored. Further analysis of nationally representative data that incorporate more comprehensive measures of COVID-related challenges is urgently needed to reveal the mechanisms underlying pandemic-related fertility responses.

In this paper, we consider more comprehensive measures of the material and emotional hardships experienced during the COVID-19 pandemic, contending that above and beyond these difficulties, generalized concerns surrounding the pandemic itself may have shifted peoples' attitudes and behavior, resulting in changes in fertility desires. Specifically, we propose that various aspects of concerns regarding the pandemic are intertwined and should not be viewed in isolation. The highly contagious COVID-19 virus endured for more than three years, creating profound uncertainties surrounding its long-term health implications. Particularly in the early stages of the pandemic, prospective parents were often uncertain about the potential negative effects of infection on themselves and their newborns. Concerns surrounding transmitting COVID-19 to newborns could have contributed to individuals decreasing their fertility desires, at least in the short term. Furthermore, the unprecedented implementation of COVID mitigation policies such as social distancing likely reinforced concerns regarding the health impacts of COVID-19. For instance, the lack of access to health care providers due to social distancing guidelines may have exacerbated individuals' worries about contracting COVID-19 during pregnancy, especially when in-person treatment options were constrained. In addition, hospitals in the United States uniformly enforced restrictions on family visitations during the early stages of the COVID-19 pandemic (Hyczko et al. 2022). Individuals who valued having family and friends present at the arrival of a new child but were concerned about exposing themselves and their loved ones to the virus might have chosen to delay their childbearing plans so that their family members and friends could visit without the constraints caused by COVID-19. These multifaceted and interconnected concerns surrounding the pandemic – including worries about contracting and spreading the virus, and uncertainties regarding social interactions due to COVID-19 mitigation policies – may have collectively contributed to individuals decreasing their fertility desires, at least in the short term.

# 4. Data and methods

We draw on original data from two waves of the Longitudinal Study of Dynamics of Social Life during COVID-19 (DSL-COVID), a nationally representative survey on wellbeing and social life in the United States during the COVID-19 pandemic conducted by Yale University researchers (Tessler, Choi, and Kao 2025). The survey was administered through YouGov, a well-established research and analytics firm specializing in online research and opinion polling. YouGov employed a two-stage sampling design to create a nationally representative sample, first matching responses to a sampling frame using the 2017 American Community Survey (ACS) one-year sample for gender, age, race/ethnicity, and education, and then applying sampling weights to ensure national representativeness (Tessler, Choi, and Kao 2025). The initial survey wave was administered in November 2020, followed by the second wave conducted from October to December 2021. The first wave comprised 3,116 individuals, and the second wave had a sample of 1,892 individuals.

YouGov recruited respondents among a random subsample of online panel members representative of adults in the United States in terms of gender, age, race/ethnicity, and education. The response rates of YouGov-administered surveys typically reach at least 40% within 24 hours and 60% within 72 hours (Kellner 2004). A study by the Pew Research Center suggests that YouGov consistently outperforms other online survey platforms in accuracy and also generates more reliable results than the Pew Research Center's probability-based American Trends Panel, largely due to YouGov's elaborate

set of adjustments at both the sample selection and weighting stages (Kennedy et al. 2016; Rivers 2016). Furthermore, unlike surveys that employ passive sampling (allowing anyone to take part), YouGov utilizes active sampling, which restricts survey participation to only randomly selected respondents in the sampling stage (Twyman 2008). YouGov's use of a secure, password-protected system may help deter bot interference by ensuring strict control over survey participation (Twyman 2008).

To examine changes in fertility desires during the COVID-19 pandemic, we excluded respondents who reported having a baby during the pandemic (N = 137). This exclusion was based on the rationale that individuals who had a baby during the study period might have reported fertility desires that had already been realized rather than current or prospective preferences. Moreover, recent childbirth might have uniquely influenced individuals' fertility desires, leading to systematic differences compared to those who did not experience such events. This exclusion criterion is consistent with prior research on fertility preferences during the pandemic (Nava, Saxbe, and Dunton 2021; Rocca et al. 2022). Additionally, six respondents were excluded due to missing data on the number of children below 18 (N = 3), hardship experienced due to loss of income (N = 1), fertility desires in wave 1 (N = 1), and perspectives on the extent to which they restricted their daily behaviors due to social distancing guidelines (N = 1). A binary variable was employed to identify respondents with missing income information (N = 300). We further excluded individuals aged above 50 for the purpose of this study (N = 1,380). Our final analytic sample included men and women aged 18–49 who participated in wave 1 (732 men and 861 women) and wave 2 (382 men and 458 women) (N = 2,433).

Because around 47% of respondents dropped out in wave 2, we created attrition weights that adjust for those who were not successfully surveyed in wave 2.<sup>3</sup> We further compared key sample characteristics of the original wave 1 sample (N = 1,593), the subsample that dropped out from the survey in wave 2 (N = 753), the subsample that was successfully followed up in wave 2 (N = 840), and the followed-up sample adjusted by attrition weights (N = 840). Table A-2 shows that after we adjusted the followed-up sample with attrition weights, the remaining sample's characteristics (column 4) closely resembled those of the original wave 1 sample (column 1), indicating that the weighting procedure effectively mitigated biases introduced by attrition. We used the product of the sampling weight and attrition weight as regression weights in our analyses for wave 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> To construct attrition weights, we first estimated a logistic regression model predicting the probability of dropping out based on demographic characteristics (see Table A-1). Next we generated a propensity score (the predicted probability of dropping out) for each respondent. Attrition weights are the inverse of propensity scores (1/ps) for those who dropped out and the inverse of 1 minus the propensity score (1/(1-ps)) for those who did not drop out.

#### 4.1 Dependent variables

This study considers two main dependent variables. The first dependent variable is the change in fertility desires between the beginning of the pandemic (March 2020) and wave 1 (November 2020). In wave 1, this variable was measured by the question "How has your desire to have a baby changed since March 2020?" This variable was recoded as a categorical variable with the following three categories: increased desire, unchanged desire, and decreased desire.

The second dependent variable measured the level of fertility desire both in wave 1 and in wave 2. The question "How interested are you in having a baby?" was asked in both waves. These measures used a Likert scale that ranged from 1 (not interested at all) to 5 (extremely interested). The levels of fertility desires in wave 1 and wave 2 were coded as continuous variables.

Differing from other studies that measure fertility desires with ideal family sizes or the desire to avoid pregnancy (Hagewen and Morgan 2005; Mcallister et al. 2012; Weitzman et al. 2017), we examine the short-term change in the strength of fertility desires during COVID-19. Evidence shows that the pandemic had no impact on ideal family sizes in the United States, underscoring the stability of long-term family size preferences (Behrman 2023). In complementing this body of literature, our study focuses on a measure that reflects short-term change in the strength of fertility desires, recognizing that these are likely to be directly influenced by the pandemic compared to the more enduring stability of ideal family sizes (Manning et al. 2022).

#### 4.2 COVID-specific concerns

For the main independent variable, we rely on a unique set of questions about respondents' views on statements related to the COVID-19 pandemic. Similar sets of questions were commonly used in survey studies conducted during the pandemic to examine individuals' attitudes toward the pandemic and their associations with fertility desires (Banaei et al. 2023; Ben-Kimhy et al. 2020; Manning et al. 2022). The following four questionnaire items pertaining to views on the COVID-19 pandemic were applied:

- "I restrict my daily behaviors based on social distancing guidelines."
- "COVID-19 is a major threat to the health of the US population."
- "I am worried about getting sick with COVID-19."
- "I am worried about spreading COVID-19 to other people."

For each statement, respondents were asked to rate their agreement or disagreement. The answers were recorded on a seven-point Likert scale, where 1 stands for complete disagreement and 7 stands for complete agreement.

These items represent different yet closely interconnected aspects of concerns about the COVID-19 pandemic. The first item addresses whether respondents altered their daily activities to adhere to social distancing guidelines, which may reflect an actual or expected decrease in visits to health care providers and in-person gatherings with family members and friends. The second item focuses on respondents' perception of the pandemic as a public health crisis that may affect overall societal conditions. The third item gauges respondents' personal concerns regarding the potential impact of the virus on their own health. The fourth statement evaluates respondents' concerns about transmitting COVID-19 to other people, which may include friends, family members, and an unborn or newborn child.

Conceptually, these four variables are deeply intertwined and cannot be viewed in isolation. For example, individuals worried about getting sick with COVID-19 or spreading the virus to other people were likely to restrict their daily activities based on social distancing guidelines. On the other hand, the restriction of daily activities during lockdowns resulted in substantial disruptions to reproductive health services and routine visits to health care providers (Lindberg et al. 2020). The lack of access to health care services may have reinforced individuals' worries about contracting COVID-19 during pregnancy, as limited access to health care providers increases uncertainty about managing the virus's potential health effects on both pregnant mothers and their unborn children (Peivandi et al. 2022). Furthermore, individuals' perception of the pandemic as a macro-level health crisis is closely correlated with internalized personal concerns about contracting the virus or spreading the virus to other people. Together, these four interrelated variables capture individuals' generalized concerns regarding the multifaceted impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic.

Statistically, Cronbach's alpha test (Cronbach's alpha = 0.895) reveals a high level of internal consistency among these four variables. We further used exploratory factor analysis to identify meaningful underlying commonalities in the four variables. Factor analysis reduces a group of correlated variables to a smaller number of latent, unobserved variables, which are also called factors (Tencza, Stokes, and Preston 2014). Each identified factor has a factor loading for every observed variable, indicating the correlation between the factor and each variable. First, the Bartlett test of sphericity suggests that the four variables are sufficiently correlated to proceed with factor analysis (p < 0.001). Next, exploratory factor analysis indicates that the four variables load onto a single factor with an eigenvalue greater than 1. Table 1 presents the factor, each with substantial loadings around 0.8. These high factor loadings indicate strong correlations

between each variable and the underlying factor. Based on the statistical and conceptual relationships between these four variables (reviewed above), we labeled this factor "COVID-specific concerns," as we believe this factor captures respondents' generalized concerns regarding the multifaceted and interrelated impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic.

COVID-specific concerns	
Variables on COVID-related statements	Factor loading
"I restrict my daily behavior based on social distancing guidelines."	0.790
"COVID-19 is a major threat to the health of the US population."	0.825
"I am worried about getting sick with COVID-19."	0.880
"I am worried about spreading COVID-19 to other people."	0.812

#### Table 1: Sample factor loadings

Notes: Factor analysis generates one factor. Factor loadings represent the correlations between the factor and each of the four original variables on COVID-19-related statements.

We constructed an index that reflects generalized COVID-specific concerns by taking the average of the four questionnaire items. In doing so, we aimed to synthesize the above intertwined dimensions of COVID-related concerns rather than separating them from each other. The value of the index ranges from 1 to 7, with higher values indicating greater levels of COVID-specific concerns. We acknowledge that the second statement, which addresses respondents' perception of the pandemic as a health threat to the general US population, may reflect a slightly different aspect of COVID-specific concerns compared to the other three statements, which correspond to personal concerns (getting sick with COVID-19, restricting one's daily activities, and spreading the virus to other people) regarding the pandemic. However, we believe concerns regarding the broader health impacts of the pandemic are closely intertwined with these personal concerns, as the perception of COVID-19 as a threat to the health of the US population heightens individual fear and influences personal behavior. Prior research has constructed composite indices that combine personal perceptions and general statements to gauge individuals' views of risks associated with other disasters (Raahalya et al. 2023) and COVID-19 in specific (El Taha et al. 2022; Genis et al. 2020). We further tried to construct an index by taking the average of the first, third, and fourth items (Cronbach's alpha = 0.866), but we found no marked differences between the effects of these two versions of the index on fertility desires. We chose to use the average of four items for simplicity and because of the higher internal validity of this index (Cronbach's alpha = 0.895), suggesting that it effectively captures latent concerns about the COVID-19 pandemic.

#### 4.3 Hardships experienced during the pandemic

The second key independent variable we consider is hardships experienced during COVID-19. The survey asked respondents to rate whether each of the following had been a hardship for them over the past month: (1) lack of social interaction; (2) lack of emotional support; (3) lack of physical contact (such as handshakes, hugs, and other platonic gestures); (4) loss of income and/or financial support; (5) lack of romantic or sexual contact. Responses ranged from 1 (not a hardship) to 5 (a major hardship) and were coded as continuous variables. This question was asked in both waves.

#### 4.4 Control variables

We controlled for covariates that may affect participants' fertility desires. Gender was a categorical variable (man or woman). Race/ethnicity was measured categorically: White, Black or African American, Hispanic, Asian or Pacific Islander, and multiracial/other race. The number of children under 18 was measured categorically: zero, one, and two or more. Marital status was measured categorically: married, in a domestic/civil partnership, never married, and separated/divorced/widowed. Age was measured as a categorical variable: 18–24, 25–29, 30–39, and 40–49. Annual family income was measured using a five-category ordinal variable: less than \$20,000, \$20,000–\$39,999, \$40,000–\$79,999, \$80,000–\$119,999, and \$120,000 or more. Education was measured as an ordinal variable indicating the highest level of educational attainment: high school degree or below, some college, and bachelor's degree or above.

#### 4.5 Analytical strategy

First we exploited the panel nature of our data and described the trajectory of change in fertility desires across two waves (Figure 1). We also created figures to describe respondents' views on COVID-19 (Figure 2) and hardships experienced during COVID-19 (Figure 3). We then presented descriptive statistics of our sample and analyzed between-wave changes in hardships experienced during the pandemic (Table 2).

Next we estimated multinomial logistic regression models to examine the effects of COVID-specific concerns and hardships on changes in fertility desires in wave 1. Table 3 presents results from multinomial logistic regression models assessing the effects of COVID-specific concerns on the change in fertility desires between March 2020 and November 2020 (wave 1). The composite index combining different aspects of COVID-specific concerns was included as the main independent variable. Hardships experienced

and all covariates were included in all models, and all results were weighted. When presenting multinomial logistic regression results, we show average marginal effects (AMEs), which express the change in the predicted probability of an outcome in response to a one-unit change in the covariates. We present AMEs rather than regression coefficients (log-odds) for easier interpretation. To assess the robustness of the multinomial logistic regression results, we also estimated ordered logit and probit models with an ordinal dependent variable capturing the level of change in fertility desires (decreased, unchanged, and increased). These results (see Table A-3) show that the effects of COVID-specific concerns were highly consistent across model specifications.

Finally, we estimated linear regression models to assess the effects of COVIDspecific concerns and hardships on the level of fertility desires in wave 2. Similar to our analysis in wave 1, the composite index reflecting COVID-specific concerns was included as the main independent variable in the model. Fertility desires in wave 1 were included as a control variable. In our analyses for wave 2, we multiplied attrition weights by sampling weights to generate regression weights.

#### 5. Results

#### 5.1 Descriptive findings

Figure 1 depicts the changes in fertility desires observed across wave 1 and wave 2. During the period spanning March to November 2020 (wave 1), approximately 70% of our sample indicated that their fertility desires remained unchanged, while approximately 18% and 12% of respondents reported a decrease and an increase in their fertility desires, respectively. Among those respondents who remained part of the study sample for both wave 1 and wave 2 (N = 840), 53% (N = 446) reported unchanged fertility desires in both waves. Notably, among participants who initially reported a decline in fertility desires during wave 1 and continued to participate in the study (N = 142), 60% (N = 85) experienced a transition toward unchanged fertility desires in wave 2 while only 18% exhibited a further decrease in fertility desires (N = 25) during wave 2. A detailed breakdown of the number of individuals reporting each level of change in fertility desires in both waves is presented in Table A-4.



Figure 1: Flow chart of change in fertility desire across waves

The majority of our sample showed a high level of concern regarding the effects of COVID-19. Figure 2 describes the distribution of respondents' views on the COVID-19 pandemic. Around 60% of our respondents completely agreed (level = 7) or largely agreed (level = 6) that they restricted daily behaviors based on social distancing guidelines and that COVID-19 was a major threat to the health of the US population. Approximately 50% of respondents completely or largely agreed that they were worried about getting sick with COVID-19 or were worried about spreading COVID-19 to other people.



#### Figure 2: Respondents' views on COVID-19

Figure 3 shows the distribution of respondents' experiences of five types of hardships in wave 1 and wave 2. In wave 1, approximately 55% of respondents experienced at least some hardships (level = 3 or higher) due to a lack of social interaction. Similarly, around 50% of respondents reported facing hardships because of a lack of emotional support or a loss of income. Roughly 45% of our sample experienced at least some hardships due to a lack of physical contact or a lack of romantic/sexual contact. By wave 2, a larger percentage of respondents experienced at least some hardships because of a lack of romantic/sexual contact. However, lower percentages of respondents encountered hardships due to a lack of social interactions, physical contact, or loss of income.



Figure 3: Hardships experienced in wave 1 and wave 2

Notes: Wave 1 sample statistics were weighted using sampling weights. Wave 2 sample statistics were weighted using the product of sampling weight and attrition weight.

Table 2 presents the descriptive statistics of the analytic sample. In wave 1, around 65% of our sample indicated that they were not at all interested in having a baby. Twenty-four percent of our sample were at least somewhat interested in having a baby. By wave 2, 63% of our sample were not at all interested in having a baby, and 25% were at least somewhat interested in having a baby. The composite index reflecting COVID-specific concerns ranged from a minimum of 1 to a maximum of 7, with an average score of 5.1 (SD = 1.7) and a median score of 5.8. Comparing hardships experienced in wave 1 and wave 2, we found that, on average, respondents experienced a lower level of hardships in wave 2 than in wave 1 due to a lack of social interactions, a lack of physical contact, and loss of income. By contrast, we found an increase in hardships due to a lack of romantic/sexual contact in wave 2 compared to wave 1, suggesting that the prolonged pandemic and social distancing protocols may have heightened desires for romantic contact.

	Wave 1	Wave 2
Sample size	1,593	840
Interest in having a baby (%)		
Not at all interested	65	63
Not that interested	11	12
Somewhat interested	12	11
Very interested	6	7
Extremely interested	6	7
COVID-related concerns (index) (mean)	5.1 (1.7)	-
Hardship (mean)		
Lack of social interactions	2.70 (1.34)	2.46 (1.29)
Lack of emotional support	2.51 (1.35)	2.49 (1.34)
Lack of physical contact	2.46 (1.37)	2.32 (1.35)
Lack of romantic/sexual contact	2.37 (1.45)	2.49 (1.43)
Loss of income	2.58 (1.51)	2.33 (1.38)
Gender (%)		
Woman	50	51
Man	50	49
Race/Ethnicity (%)		
White	55	55
Asian/Pacific Islander	9	8
Black	14	14
Hispanic	21	21
Multiracial/other race	2	2
Education (%)		
High school or less	36	36
Some college	35	35
College or above	29	30
Family income (%)		
Less than \$20,000	17	17
\$20,000–\$39,999	19	19
\$40,000–\$79,000	30	30
\$80,000–\$119,999	12	12
\$120,000 or above	9	9
Missing	13	13
Age group (%)		
18–24	21	20
25–29	20	21
30–39	32	32
40–49	28	28
Marital status (%)		
Married	35	34
Domestic/civil partnership	6	6
Never married	51	52
Separated/widowed/divorced	7	8
Number of children under 18 (%)		
0	58	59
1	19	19
2+	23	22

#### Table 2: Sample descriptive statistics in wave 1 and wave 2

Notes: Wave 1 sample statistics were weighted using sampling weights. Wave 2 sample statistics were weighted using the product of sampling weight and attrition weight. Percentages for each categorical variable might not sum to exactly 100% due to rounding. Standard deviations for continuous variables are reported in parentheses.

#### 5.2 Regression results

Table 3 shows results from multinomial logistic regression models examining the relationship between COVID-specific concerns and the change in fertility desires between March 2020 and wave 1 (November 2020). To make results easier to interpret, we transformed regression coefficients (log-odds) into average marginal effects. The composite index reflecting COVID-specific concerns was included as the main independent variable in the model. The model controlled for hardships and sociodemographic variables. Firstly, we found that experiencing various types of hardships was associated with less stable fertility desires. For example, a one-unit increase in hardship due to a lack of physical contact, a lack of romantic or sexual contact, and a loss of income was associated with a 0.027 (95% CI: [-0.048, -0.006]), 0.02 (95% CI: [-0.038, -0.002]), and 0.028 (95% CI: [-0.044, -0.012]) decrease, respectively, in the predicted probability of maintaining unchanged fertility desires. Greater hardship due to a loss of income was associated with a higher likelihood of both decreased (95% CI: [0.004, 0.032]) and increased (95% CI: [-0.001, 0.022]) fertility desires, while greater hardship due to the lack of romantic or sexual contact was associated with a higher predicted probability of increasing fertility desires (95% CI: [0.004, 0.03]).

Table 3:Multinomial logistic regression model predicting change in fertility<br/>desires in wave 1 (average marginal effects)

	Dependent variable: Change in fertility desires, wave 1		
	Unchanged	Decreased	Increased
COVID-specific concerns (index)	-0.016 (0.007)	0.019 (0.007)	-0.002 (0.005)
	[-0.031, -0.002]	[0.006, 0.032]	[-0.012, 0.008]
Hardship			
Lack of social interactions	-0.005 (0.011)	0.002 (0.01)	0.002 (0.008)
	[-0.026, 0.017]	[–0.017, 0.021]	[–0.013, 0.018]
Lack of physical contact	-0.027 (0.011)	0.014 (0.009)	0.012 (0.008)
	[-0.048, -0.006]	[-0.004, 0.032]	[–0.003, 0.028]
Lack of emotional support	-0.014 (0.011)	0.007 (0.01)	0.007 (0.008)
	[-0.036, 0.008]	[-0.012, 0.026]	[-0.009, 0.022]
Lack of romantic/sexual contact	-0.02 (0.009)	0.003 (0.008)	0.017 (0.007)
	[-0.038, -0.002]	[-0.013, 0.019]	[0.004, 0.03]
Loss of income	-0.028 (0.008)	0.018 (0.007)	0.01 (0.006)
	[-0.044, -0.012]	[0.004, 0.032]	[–0.001, 0.022]
Race/ethnicity (ref = White)			
Asian/Pacific Islander	–0.031 (0.04)	0.022 (0.035)	0.009 (0.028)
	[–0.109, 0.048]	[-0.047, 0.091]	[–0.046, 0.063]
Black	-0.148 (0.037)	0.045 (0.031)	0.103 (0.031)
	[-0.22, -0.075]	[–0.016, 0.106]	[0.041, 0.164]
Hispanic	–0.019 (0.029)	0.007 (0.025)	0.012 (0.02)
	[–0.076, 0.038]	[-0.042, 0.056]	[–0.028, 0.052]
Multiracial/other race	-0.115 (0.097)	0.032 (0.082)	0.083 (0.077)
	[-0.306, 0.075]	[-0.128, 0.192]	[–0.067, 0.233]

	Dependent variable: Cl	Dependent variable: Change in fertility desires, wave 1		
	Unchanged	Decreased	Increased	
Number of children (ref = 0)				
1	-0.036 (0.031)	0.009 (0.027)	0.028 (0.022)	
	[-0.097, 0.025]	[-0.044, 0.061]	[-0.016, 0.071]	
2+	-0.033 (0.031)	0.018 (0.027)	0.015 (0.021)	
	[-0.093, 0.027]	[-0.035, 0.071]	[-0.026, 0.057]	
Marital status (ref = married)				
Domestic/civil partnership	0.082 (0.05)	0.024 (0.045)	-0.106 (0.032)	
	[-0.015, 0.18]	[-0.065, 0.113]	[-0.169, -0.042]	
Never married	0.109 (0.031)	-0.006 (0.027)	-0.102 (0.024)	
	[0.048, 0.169]	[-0.059, 0.047]	[-0.149, -0.056]	
Separated/divorced/widowed	0.052 (0.05)	-0.053 (0.038)	0.001 (0.043)	
	[-0.047, 0.15]	[-0.128, 0.023]	[-0.084, 0.086]	
Age (ref = 18–24)				
25–29	-0.037 (0.04)	-0.021 (0.033)	0.058 (0.033)	
	[-0.115, 0.041]	[-0.087, 0.044]	[-0.007, 0.124]	
30–39	0.053 (0.037)	-0.031 (0.032)	-0.022 (0.029)	
	[-0.019, 0.125]	[-0.094, 0.031]	[-0.079, 0.036]	
40–49	0.149 (0.037)	-0.063 (0.033)	-0.086 (0.028)	
	[0.076, 0.223]	[-0.127, 0.001]	[-0.141, -0.031]	
Family income (ref = below \$20,000)				
\$20,000–\$39,999	0.074 (0.04)	-0.056 (0.036)	-0.018 (0.028)	
	[-0.004, 0.153]	[-0.127, 0.015]	[-0.073, 0.037]	
\$40,000–\$79,999	0.123 (0.037)	-0.089 (0.034)	-0.034 (0.026)	
	[0.049, 0.196]	[-0.155, -0.022]	[-0.084, 0.017]	
\$80,000-\$119,999	0.11 (0.047)	-0.089 (0.042)	-0.021 (0.034)	
\$100.000 I	[0.017, 0.202]	[-0.171, -0.007]	[-0.087, 0.046]	
\$120,000 or above	0.09 (0.054)	-0.11 (0.046)	0.02 (0.043)	
Olympod		[-0.199, -0.02]	[-0.064, 0.104]	
Skipped	0.091 (0.045)	-0.045 (0.041)		
Education (ref = high school degree or held	[0.005, 0.176]	[-0.124, 0.033]	[=0.100, 0.014]	
Education (ref – high school degree of beid	0 004 (0 007)	0.002 (0.022)	0.025 (0.010)	
Some college	0.024 (0.027) [_0.029_0.076]	[_0.002 (0.023)	-0.025 (0.019)	
Callera ar shave	[-0.023, 0.070]	[-0.040, 0.047]	[-0.002, 0.011]	
College of above	-0.04 (0.032) [-0.104_0.024]	0.029 (0.020) [_0.027_0.084]	[_0.036_0.058]	
Gender (ref = woman)	0.027 (0.023)		0 (0 017)	
		[-0.027 (0.02)]	[-0.032 0.033]	
N	1 503	[ 0.000, 0.010]	[ 0.002; 0.000]	
11	1,000			

#### Table 3:(Continued)

Notes: Regression coefficients were transformed into AMEs. Standard errors are in parentheses; 95% confidence intervals are in brackets. Weights were applied in all models.

However, after accounting for the effects of these hardships, we found that COVID-specific concerns were associated with less stable fertility desires. Specifically, a oneunit increase in the index reflecting COVID-specific concerns was associated with a 0.016 decrease in the predicted probability of maintaining the same level of fertility desires (95% CI: [-0.031, -0.002]) and a 0.019 increase in the predicted probability of decreasing fertility desires (95% CI: [0.006, 0.032]). Notably, the magnitude of this association is comparable to or larger than the effects of various types of hardship. This finding suggests that in late 2020, the relationship between generalized concerns regarding the COVID-19 pandemic itself and fertility desires was independent of various types of material and emotional hardships brought about by COVID-19 or other sociodemographic variables.<sup>4</sup>

Examining the sociodemographic characteristics of the respondents, we found that, on average, Black adults were less likely to have unchanged fertility desires (95% CI: [-0.22, -0.075]) and more likely to have increased fertility desires (95% CI: [0.041, 0.164]) than their White peers. Respondents who were cohabiting (95% CI: [-0.169, -0.042]) or never married (95% CI: [-0.149, -0.056]) were less likely to have increased fertility desires than their married counterparts. Those aged 40–49 were more likely to maintain unchanged fertility desires (95% CI: [0.076, 0.223]) than those aged 18–24. Regarding the effects of family income, we found that individuals with a family income below \$20,000 were less likely than all other income groups to maintain unchanged fertility desires. Specifically, those in the lowest income group were more likely than those earning over \$40,000 to decrease their fertility desires.

Next we examined how persistently COVID-specific concerns were associated with fertility desires, drawing on data from later stages of the pandemic. Table 4 presents results from linear regression models examining the effects of COVID-specific concerns on fertility desires in wave 2 (October–December 2021). Fertility desire measured in wave 1 was included as a control variable. Similar to the results from wave 1, we found that experiencing certain types of hardship was associated with less stable fertility desires in wave 2. For example, individuals having more hardships due to a lack of social interactions were more likely to have higher fertility desires (95% CI: [0.016, 0.17]). By contrast, experiencing hardships due to a lack of emotional support was marginally negatively associated with fertility desires in wave 2 (95% CI: [-0.158, 0.004]). Other types of hardships were not significantly associated with fertility desires in wave 2.

	Dependent variable: Fertility desires in wave 2 (continuous)
COVID-specific concerns (index)	-0.038 (0.021)
	[-0.078, 0.003]
Hardship	
Lack of social interactions	0.093 (0.039)
	[0.016, 0.17]
Lack of physical contact	-0.009 (0.038)
	[-0.083, 0.065]
Lack of emotional support	-0.077 (0.041)
	[-0.158, 0.004]
Lack of romantic/sexual contact	0.048 (0.033)
	[-0.016, 0.112]
Loss of income	-0.029 (0.03)
	[-0.089, 0.03]

 Table 4:
 Linear regression model predicting fertility desires in wave 2

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> We tested interactions between COVID-specific concerns and both gender and educational attainment, but the interaction effects were generally insignificant.

	Dependent variable: Fertility desires in wave 2 (continuous)
Race/ethnicity (ref = White)	
Asian/Pacific Islander	-0.049 (0.132)
	[-0.307, 0.21]
Black	0.318 (0.11)
	[0.103, 0.533]
Hispanic	0.088 (0.093)
Multiverial/athen rece	[-0.094, 0.271]
Number of children (ref = $0$ )	[-0.354, 0.47]
	0.004 (0.007)
I	[_0 187 0 195]
2+	-0.24 (0.102)
-	[-0.44, -0.041]
Marital status (ref = married)	
Domestic/civil partnership	-0.235 (0.163)
	[-0.555, 0.086]
Never married	-0.119 (0.106)
	[-0.327, 0.09]
Separated/divorced/widowed	-0.136 (0.147)
	[-0.426, 0.153]
Age (ref = 18–24)	
25–29	-0.266 (0.108)
	[-0.478, -0.054]
30–39	-0.096 (0.103)
10, 10	[-0.298, 0.107]
40-49	
Eamily income (ref = below $$20,000$ )	[-0.438, 0.018]
¢20,000, ¢20,000	0.106 (0.122)
\$20,000 <b>-</b> \$39,999	[_0.044_0.435]
\$40 000-\$79 999	-0.166 (0.115)
ψ+0,000 ψ10,000	[-0.392, 0.06]
\$80.000-\$119.999	0.1 (0.149)
·····	[-0.193, 0.394]
\$120,000 or above	0.131 (0.166)
	[-0.195, 0.458]
Skipped	-0.185 (0.132)
	[-0.443, 0.074]
Education (ref = high school degree or below)	
Some college	0.034 (0.083)
	[-0.129, 0.196]
College or above	0.078 (0.102)
Fortility desire in ways 1	[-0.123, 0.279]
Fertility desire in wave 1	0.04 (0.03)
Gender (ref = woman)	-0 135 (0 073)
contact (i.e. itolitati)	[-0.278, 0.008]
Constant	1.092 (0.222)
	[0.656, 1.528]
N	840

#### Table 4:Linear regression model predicting fertility desires in wave 2

Notes: Estimated coefficients are shown. Standard errors are in parentheses; 95% confidence intervals are in brackets. The products of attrition weights and sampling weights were applied in all models.

After accounting for the effects of hardships and other covariates, we found that COVID-specific concerns continued to be associated with decreased fertility desires in wave 2 (95% CI: [-0.078, 0.003]). Specifically, a one-unit increase in the composite index reflecting COVID-specific concerns was associated with a 0.04-unit decrease in

fertility desires in wave 2. Even though marginally significant, this effect provides suggestive evidence that COVID-specific concerns remained persistently associated with decreased fertility desires in wave 2, independent of the effects of hardships and sociodemographic characteristics.

Examining the effects of other sociodemographic variables, we found that Black individuals demonstrated higher levels of fertility desires than White individuals (95% CI: [0.103, 0.533]). Those with two or more children had lower fertility desires than those without children (95% CI: [-0.44, -0.041]). Regarding the effects of age, we found that respondents aged 25–29 (95% CI: [-0.478, -0.054]) and 40–49 (95% CI: [-0.438, 0.018]) had lower levels of fertility desires than those aged 18–24. Fertility desires in wave 1 were positively associated with fertility desires in wave 2 (95% CI: [0.581, 0.699]). In addition, men showed a marginally lower level of fertility desires than women (95% CI: [-0.278, 0.008]).

# 6. Conclusion

The COVID-19 pandemic fundamentally changed people's daily lives. As a worldwide health and economic crisis, it brought profound material and emotional challenges, as seen with other catastrophic events. What sets the COVID-19 pandemic apart is its enduring nature coupled with its vast scale and the universal implementation of COVID-19 mitigation policies. These factors suggest that the COVID-19 pandemic may have necessitated substantial changes in individuals' attitudes and behavior, at least in the short term. Even though evidence shows a decrease in fertility levels following COVID-19, mechanisms underlying fertility responses to the pandemic remain poorly understood. Previous research on fertility responses to catastrophic events suggests that disasters impact human fertility not only by introducing economic uncertainties or practical hardships but also by altering people's attitudes and behavior related to childbearing (Rodgers, John, and Coleman 2005; Wright 2022). In this study, we considered whether disruptions in fertility desires during COVID-19 can be explained by material and emotional hardships or by generalized concerns surrounding the COVID-19 pandemic itself. We showed that beyond various types of material and emotional hardships experienced during the pandemic, concerns related to the pandemic itself additionally affected people's views and their fertility desires.

Drawing on a nationally representative survey on well-being and social life during the COVID-19 pandemic in the United States, we present several main findings. First, consistent with existing evidence (Lindberg et al. 2020; Naya, Saxbe, and Dunton 2021; Yang and Kao 2024), we find that Black and lower-income individuals were less likely than their White and more advantaged counterparts to report stable fertility desires, indicating that the greater resources of more privileged groups may have enabled them to sustain their pre-pandemic fertility desires. Second, approximately half of our sample experienced at least some material and emotional hardships in late 2020. By late 2021, our respondents reported experiencing fewer hardships due to a lack of social interactions, lack of physical contact, and loss of income. Interestingly, we observed an increase in hardships due to a lack of romantic/sexual contact, suggesting that the extended duration of the pandemic and social distancing protocols may have heightened desires for romantic contact and intensified frustrations due to the prolonged absence of romantic intimacy.

Those who experienced material and emotional hardships were less likely to report stable fertility desires in both late 2020 and late 2021. Consistent with economic theories, income loss during the pandemic was associated with less stable fertility desires. In line with psychological theories, those who lacked romantic or sexual contact reported increased fertility desires, likely reflecting proximity-seeking motivations or an intensified desire for children amid prolonged social isolation during the pandemic. However, even after we accounted for the effects of hardships, COVID-specific concerns were associated with a decrease in fertility desires in late 2020, and suggestive evidence shows that pandemic-related concerns remained negatively associated with fertility desires in late 2021. This impact may be attributed to various interconnected concerns related to the COVID-19 pandemic. COVID-19 mitigation policies, such as social distancing protocols, led to the restriction of daily activities, including regular visits to reproductive health providers and hospital visitations to friends and family members who gave birth (VanBenschoten et al. 2022). These restrictions likely induced profound uncertainties regarding the social dynamics of individuals' lives and deepened prospective parents' concerns about contracting or spreading the virus to their newborns, especially when treatment options were limited. As a result, those who valued the presence of family and friends during childbearing but were concerned about themselves or their loved ones being exposed to the COVID-19 virus may have become less willing to have babies when their daily activities were constrained and when they felt uncertain about the long-term health implications of the pandemic.

We acknowledge some limitations of our study, and we call for future research on fertility desires during COVID-19 to address these limitations. First, our analysis of the change in fertility desires is based on a retrospective measure, and we could not rule out potential recall bias. However, research during the pandemic shows that it is efficient to capture changes in fertility desires using retrospective measures during periods of extreme uncertainty (Marteleto et al. 2023). Second, while our measure for fertility desires is widely used, it does not differentiate between giving birth to a biological child and adopting a nonbiological child. This distinction is relevant to the context of this study, as those who experienced or witnessed suffering during the pandemic might be prompted

to adopt orphans but not necessarily give birth to biological children. Third, our measure for fertility desires captures only the change in the strength of fertility desires between the pre-pandemic period and wave 1, and we were unable to ascertain the specific direction of this change (from not interested to interested in having a baby or vice versa). The survey also did not collect information on the age of the youngest child, limiting our ability to assess how parental stage may have shaped fertility desires. Finally, our longitudinal data span two time points during the COVID-19 pandemic and are subject to a relatively high attrition rate. The marginally significant association between COVIDspecific concerns and fertility desires in late 2021 may, in part, reflect the small sample size in wave 2. Future research would benefit from additional high-quality longitudinal data to further examine how these associations have evolved in the post-pandemic period. In particular, incorporating geographic variation in the intensity of COVID-19 mitigation policies could help capture differential exposure to pandemic-related restrictions and enrich our understanding of how local policy environments shaped fertility-related attitudes and behaviors.

Nonetheless, our results demonstrate that disruptions in fertility desires during the COVID-19 pandemic cannot simply be explained by material and emotional hardships introduced by the pandemic alone. Instead, as we have shown, multiple interconnected concerns regarding the pandemic itself have the potential to change people's attitudes and behavior, which may result in changes in fertility desires. In line with Manning et al. (2022), our findings suggest that theoretical frameworks used to explain fertility disruptions during other crises may not be applied in the same way in the case of the COVID-19 pandemic. Future work should further examine the long-term impacts of COVID mitigation policies and COVID-related health concerns on fertility during the post-pandemic era.

### References

- Aassve, A., Cavalli, N., Mencarini, L., Plach, S., and Sanders, S. (2021). Early assessment of the relationship between the COVID-19 pandemic and births in high-income countries. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 118(36): e2105709118. doi:10.1073/pnas.2105709118.
- Adsera, A. and Menendez, A. (2011). Fertility changes in Latin America in periods of economic uncertainty. *Population Studies* 65(1): 37–56. doi:10.1080/00324728. 2010.530291.
- Banaei, M., Kariman, N., Nia, H.S., and Mokhtarian-Gilani, T. (2023). The role of the Coronavirus pandemic on childbearing intentions in Iranian women based on path analysis: A cross-sectional study. *International Journal of Reproductive BioMedicine* 21(1): 43–52. doi:10.18502/ijrm.v21i1.12665.
- Becker, G.S. (1960). An economic analysis of fertility. In: Roberts, G.B. (ed.). Demographic and economic change in developed countries. New York: Columbia University Press: 209–240.
- Behrman, J. (2023). A brief report on the COVID-19 pandemic and ideal family size in the United States. *Journal of Marriage and Family* 85(2): 645–656. doi:10.1111/ jomf.12905.
- Behrman, J.A. and Weitzman, A. (2016). Effects of the 2010 Haiti earthquake on women's reproductive health. *Studies in Family Planning* 47(1): 3–17. doi:10.1111/j.1728-4465.2016.00045.x.
- Ben-Kimhy, R., Youngster, M., Medina-Artom, T.R., Avraham, S., Gat, I., Marom Haham, L., Hourvitz, A., and Kedem, A. (2020). Fertility patients under COVID-19: attitudes, perceptions and psychological reactions. *Human Reproduction* 35(12): 2774–2783. doi:10.1093/humrep/deaa248.
- Bowlby, J. (1969). Attachment and loss. New York: Basic Books.
- Butz, W.P. and Ward, M.P. (1979). The emergence of countercyclical US fertility. *The American Economic Review* 69(3): 318–328.
- Cohan, C.L. and Cole, S.W. (2002). Life course transitions and natural disaster: marriage, birth, and divorce following Hurricane Hugo. *Journal of Family Psychology* 16(1): 14–25. doi:10.1037//0893-3200.16.1.14.
- Cohen, P.N. (2021). Baby bust: Falling fertility in US counties is associated with COVID-19 prevalence and mobility reductions. *SocArXiv*. doi:10.31235/osf.io/qwxz3.

- Comolli, C.L. (2017). The fertility response to the Great Recession in Europe and the United States: Structural economic conditions and perceived economic uncertainty. *Demographic Research* 36(51): 1549–1600. doi:10.4054/DemRes. 2017.36.51.
- Costa, E.C., Moreira, L., Castanheira, E., Correira, P., Ribeiro, D., and Pereira, M.G. (2019). Demographic, psychological and relationship factors are associated with resource loss among pregnant women. *Journal of Reproductive and Infant Psychology* 37(4): 429–443. doi:10.1080/02646838.2019.1577957.
- Davis, J. (2017). Fertility after natural disaster: Hurricane Mitch in Nicaragua. *Population and Environment* 38: 448–464. doi:10.1007/s11111-017-0271-5.
- El Taha, L., Beyrouthy, C., Tamim, H., and Ghazeeri, G. (2022). Knowledge and attitudes among Lebanese pregnant women and women seeking fertility treatment during the COVID-19 outbreak: A cross-sectional survey. *BMJ Open* 12(3): e057873. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2021-057873.
- Eloundou-Enyegue, P.M., Stokes, C.S., and Cornwell, G.T. (2000). Are there crisis-led fertility declines? Evidence from central Cameroon. *Population Research and Policy Review* 19: 47–72. doi:10.1023/A:1006423527473.
- Finlay, J. (2009). Fertility response to natural disasters: The case of three high mortality earthquakes. Washington, DC: World Bank. World Bank Policy Research (Working Paper WPS 4883). doi:10.1596/1813-9450-4883.
- Freed, B., Hillman, S., Shantikumar, S., Bick, D., Dale, J., and Gauly, J. (2021). The impact of disasters on contraception in OECD member countries: A scoping review. *The European Journal of Contraception and Reproductive Health Care* 26(5): 429–438. doi:10.1080/13625187.2021.1934440.
- Gatta, A., Mattioli, F., Mencarini, L., and Vignoli, D. (2022). Employment uncertainty and fertility intentions: Stability or resilience? *Population Studies* 76(3): 387–406. doi:10.1080/00324728.2021.1939406.
- Geniş, B., Gürhan, N., Koç, M., Geniş, Ç., Şirin, B., Çırakoğlu, O.C., and Coşar, B. (2020). Development of perception and attitude scales related with COVID-19 pandemia. *Pearson Journal of Social Sciences-Humanities* 5(7): 306–328.
- Guzzo, K.B. and Hayford, S.R. (2020). Pathways to parenthood in social and family contexts: Decade in review, 2020. *Journal of Marriage and Family* 82(1): 117–144. doi:10.1111/jomf.12618.

- Hagewen, K.J. and Morgan, S.P. (2005). Intended and ideal family size in the United States, 1970–2002. *Population and Development Review* 31(3): 507–527. doi:10.1111/j.1728-4457.2005.00081.x.
- Hazan, C. and Shaver, P.R. (1994). Attachment as an organizational framework for research on close relationships. *Psychological Inquiry* 5(1): 1–22. doi:10.1207/ s15327965pli0501 1.
- Hofmann, B. and Hohmeyer, K. (2013). Perceived economic uncertainty and fertility: Evidence from a labor market reform. *Journal of Marriage and Family* 75(2): 503–521. doi:10.1111/jomf.12011.
- Hyczko, A.V., Fu, C., Graf, Z., Perkowski, C.D., Whyte-Nesfield, M.M., Zhou, S., and Zurca, A.D. (2022). Evaluating pediatric families' understanding of and reactions to COVID-19 visitor restrictions. *Journal of Patient Experience* 9: 1–7. doi:10.1177/23743735221077547.
- Johnson-Hanks, J.A., Bachrach, C.A., Morgan, S.P., and Kohler, H.-P. (2011). *Understanding family change and variation: Toward a theory of conjunctural action*. Dordrecht: Springer Science and Business Media. doi:10.1007/978-94-007-1945-3.
- Kellner, P. (2004). Can online polls produce accurate findings? *International Journal of Market Research* 46(1): 3–22. doi:10.1177/147078530404600102.
- Kennedy, C., Mercer, A., Keeter, S., Hatley, N., McGeeney, K., and Gimenez, A. (2016). Evaluating online nonprobability surveys [electronic resource]. https://www.pew research.org/methods/2016/05/02/evaluating-online-nonprobability-surveys/.
- Lin, T.K., Law, R., Beaman, J., and Foster, D.G. (2021). The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on economic security and pregnancy intentions among people at risk of pregnancy. *Contraception* 103(6): 380–385. doi:10.1016/j.contraception.2021. 02.001.
- Lindberg, L.D., VandeVusse, A., Mueller, J., and Kirstein, M. (2020). Early impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic: Findings from the 2020 Guttmacher Survey of Reproductive Health Experiences. New York: Guttmacher Institute. doi:10.1363/ 2020.31482.
- Luppi, F., Arpino, B., and Rosina, A. (2020). The impact of COVID-19 on fertility plans in Italy, Germany, France, Spain, and the United Kingdom. *Demographic Research* 43(47): 1399–1412. doi:10.4054/DemRes.2020.43.47.

- Malicka, I., Mynarska, M., and Świderska, J. (2021). Perceived consequences of the COVID-19 pandemic and childbearing intentions in Poland. *Journal of Family Research* 33(3): 674–702. doi:10.20377/jfr-666.
- Manning, W.D., Guzzo, K.B., Longmore, M.A., and Giordano, P.C. (2022). Cognitive schemas and fertility motivations in the U.S. during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Vienna Yearbook of Population Research* 20: 261–284. d doi:10.1553/population yearbook2022.res1.7.
- Marteleto, L.J., Dondero, M., Kumar, S., and Mallinson, D.C. (2023). Measuring fertility intentions during times of crisis: An example using survey data amid the COVID-19 pandemic. *Studies in Family Planning* 54(1): 161–180. doi:10.1111/sifp. 12219.
- Matysiak, A., Sobotka, T., and Vignoli, D. (2021). The Great Recession and fertility in Europe: A sub-national analysis. *European Journal of Population* 37(1): 29–64. doi:10.1007/s10680-020-09556-y.
- Mcallister, L., Gurven, M., Kaplan, H., and Stieglitz, J. (2012). Why do women have more children than they want? Understanding differences in women's ideal and actual family size in a natural fertility population. *American Journal of Human Biology* 24(6): 786–799. doi:10.1002/ajhb.22316.
- Naya, C.H., Saxbe, D.E., and Dunton, G.F. (2021). Early effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on fertility preferences in the United States: an exploratory study. *Fertility and Sterility* 116(4): 1128–1138. doi:10.1016/j.fertnstert.2021.05.092.
- Nitsche, N. and Wilde, J. (2024). Fertility and family dynamics in the aftermath of the COVID-19 Ppandemic. *Population and Development Review* 50(S1): 9–22. doi:10.1111/padr.12648.
- Nobles, J., Frankenberg, E., and Thomas, D. (2015). The effects of mortality on fertility: Population dynamics after a natural disaster. *Demography* 52(1): 15–38. doi:10.1007/s13524-014-0362-1.
- Norris, F.H. and Kaniasty, K. (1996). Received and perceived social support in times of stress: A test of the social support deterioration deterrence model. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* 71(3): 498–511. doi:10.1037//0022-3514. 71.3.498.
- Peivandi, S., Razavi, A., Shafiei, S., Zamaniyan, M., Orafaie, A., and Jafarpour, H. (2022). Attitudes and knowledge of infertile Iranian couples among treatment with assisted reproductive technologies during COVID-19 pandemics. *Journal of Family and Reproductive Health* 16(2): 116–123. doi:10.18502/jfrh.v16i2.9480.

- Raahalya, S., Balasubramaniam, P., Devi, M.N., Maragatham, N., and Selvi, R.G. (2023). Developing a scale to measure the attitude of the farmers' towards natural disaster management. *International Journal of Environment and Climate Change* 13(9): 65–74. doi:10.9734/ijecc/2023/v13i92205.
- Ranjan, P. (1999). Fertility behaviour under income uncertainty. European Journal of Population/Revue Européenne de Démographie 15: 25–43. doi:10.1023/A:10 06106527618.
- Rivers, D. (2016). Pew Research: YouGov consistently outperforms competitors on accuracy | YouGov [electronic resource]. https://today.yougov.com/economy/ articles/15393-pew-research-yougov.
- Rocca, C.H., Parra, M., Muñoz, I., Foster, D.G., Boscardin, W.J., and Ralph, L.J. (2022). Comparison of pregnancy preferences preceding vs year 1 of the COVID-19 pandemic. *JAMA Network Open* 5(7): e2220093–e2220093. doi:10.1001/jama networkopen.2022.20093.
- Rodgers, J.L., John, C.A.S., and Coleman, R. (2005). Did fertility go up after the Oklahoma City bombing? An analysis of births in metropolitan counties in Oklahoma, 1990–1999. *Demography* 42: 675–692. doi:10.1353/dem.2005.0034.
- Sobotka, T., Jasilioniene, A., Galarza, A.A., Zeman, K., Nemeth, L., and Jdanov, D. (2021). Baby bust in the wake of the COVID-19 pandemic? First results from the new STFF data series. *SocArXiv*. doi:10.31235/osf.io/mvy62.
- Sobotka, T., Skirbekk, V., and Philipov, D. (2011). Economic recession and fertility in the developed world. *Population and Development Review* 37(2): 267–306. doi:10.1111/j.1728-4457.2011.00411.x.
- Tencza, C., Stokes, A., and Preston, S. (2014). Factors responsible for mortality variation in the United States: A latent variable analysis. *Demographic Research* 21(2): 27– 70. doi:10.4054/DemRes.2014.31.2.
- Tessler, H., Choi, M., and Kao, G. (2025). Is everyone "looking for love?" Trends in romantic relationship interest among singles during COVID-19. *Journal of Family Issues* 46(1): 202–229. doi:10.1177/0192513X241257232.
- Twyman, J. (2008). Getting it right: YouGov and online survey research in Britain. *Journal of Elections, Public Opinion and Parties* 18(4): 343–354. doi:10.1080/ 17457280802305169.

- VanBenschoten, H., Kuganantham, H., Larsson, E.C., Endler, M., Thorson, A., Gemzell-Danielsson, K., Hanson, C., Ganatra, B., Ali, M., and Cleeve, A. (2022). Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on access to and utilisation of services for sexual and reproductive health: a scoping review. *BMJ Global Health* 7(10): e009594. doi:10.1136/bmjgh-2022-009594.
- Vignoli, D., Guetto, R., Bazzani, G., Pirani, E., and Minello, A. (2020). A reflection on economic uncertainty and fertility in Europe: The Narrative Framework. *Genus* 76(1): 1–27. doi:10.1186/s41118-020-00094-3.
- Weitzman, A., Barber, J.S., Kusunoki, Y., and England, P. (2017). Desire for and to avoid pregnancy during the transition to adulthood. *Journal of Marriage and Family* 79(4): 1060–1075. doi:10.1111/jomf.12396.
- Wilde, J., Chen, W., Lohmann, S., and Abdel Ghany, J. (2024). Digital trace data and demographic forecasting: How well did Google predict the US COVID-19 baby bust? *Population and Development Review* 50(S1): 421–446. doi:10.1111/padr. 12647.
- Wright, K.Q. (2022). "It changed the atmosphere surrounding the baby I did have": Making sense of reproduction during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Journal of Marriage and Family* 84(4): 1105–1128. doi:10.1111/jomf.12851.
- Yang, Y.M. and Kao, G. (2024). Do resources blunt the impact of COVID-19 on fertility desires in the United States? *Population Research and Policy Review* 43(1): 1–20. doi:10.1007/s11113-023-09847-2.

# Appendix

# Table A-1: Regression analysis of the relationship between core demographic characteristics and the probability of dropping out in wave 2 (logistic regression model, unweighted)

	Drop-out
Male (ref = female)	0.03 (0.03)
	[-0.029, 0.089]
Asian or Pacific Islander (ref = White)	0.05 (0.03)
	[-0.009, 0.109]
Black (ref = White)	0.06 (0.04)
	[-0.018, 0.138]
Hispanic (ref = White)	0.05 (0.04)
	[-0.028, 0.128]
Multiracial/other race (ref = White)	0.02 (0.07)
	[-0.117, 0.157]
Some college (ref = high school or below)	-0.002 (0.03)
	[-0.061, 0.057]
College or above (ref = high school or below)	0.01 (0.04)
	[-0.068, 0.088]
Family income \$20,000–\$39,999 (ref = below \$20,000)	0.04 (0.04)
	[-0.038, 0.118]
Family income \$40,000–\$79,999 (ref = below \$20,000)	0.003 (0.04)
	[-0.075, 0.081]
Family income \$80,000–\$119,999 (ref = below \$20,000)	0.04 (0.05)
	[-0.058, 0.138]
Family income above \$120,000 (ref = below \$20,000)	-0.01 (0.06)
	[-0.128, 0.108]
Family income missing (ref = below \$20,000)	0.01 (0.05)
	[-0.088, 0.108]
Age 25–29 (ref = 18–24)	-0.13 (0.04)
	[-0.208, -0.052]
Age 30–39 (ref = 18–24)	-0.26 (0.04)
	[-0.338, -0.182]
Age 40–49 (ref = 18–24)	-0.34 (0.04)
	[-0.418, -0.262]
Part-time work (ref = full-time work)	0.02 (0.04)
	[-0.058, 0.098]
Disabled/retired/student (ref = full-time work)	0.01 (0.04)
	[-0.068, 0.088]
Homemaker (ref = full-time work)	0.01 (0.05)
	[-0.088, 0.108]
Other employment (ref = full-time work)	0.11 (0.12)
	[-0.125, 0.345]
Unemployed (ref = full-time work)	0.07 (0.04)
	[-0.008, 0.148]

#### Table A-1: (Continued)

	Drop-out
Domestic/civil partnership (ref = married)	0.03 (0.06)
	[-0.088, 0.148]
Never married (ref = married)	-0.08 (0.03)
	[-0.139, -0.021]
Separated/divorced/widowed (ref = married)	0.02 (0.05)
	[-0.078, 0.118]
One child (ref = none)	0.04 (0.03)
	[-0.019, 0.099]
Two or more children (ref = none)	0.10 (0.03)
	[0.041, 0.159]
Wave 1 change in fertility desire: decrease (ref = same)	0.03 (0.03)
	[-0.029, 0.089]
Wave 1 change in fertility desire: increase (ref = same)	-0.02 (0.05)
	[-0.118, 0.078]
Wave 1 fertility desire: not that interested (ref = not at all interested)	-0.02 (0.04)
	[-0.098, 0.058]
Wave 1 fertility desire: somewhat interested (ref = not at all interested)	-0.02 (0.04)
	[-0.098, 0.058]
Wave 1 fertility desire: very interested (ref = not at all interested)	0.11 (0.06)
	[-0.008, 0.228]
Wave 1 fertility desire: extremely interested (ref = not at all interested)	0.04 (0.06)
	[-0.078, 0.158]
Observations	1,593

Notes: Estimated coefficients are shown. Standard errors are in parentheses; 95% confidence intervals are in brackets.

	Original wave 1 sample	Attrition subsample	Followed-up subsample	Followed-up subsample, weighted by attrition weights
Sample size	1,593	753	840	840
Interest in having a baby in wave 1 (%)				
Not at all interested	65	65	65	63
Not that interested	11	10	11	11
Somewhat interested	12	12	13	13
Very interested	6	7	5	6
Extremely interested	6	6	6	7
COVID-related concern index (mean)	5.1 (1.7)	5.1 (1.7)	4.9 (1.8)	5.1 (1.7)
Gender (%)				
Woman	50	48	51	51
Man	50	52	49	49
Race/ethnicity (%)				
White	55	52	59	55
Asian/Pacific Islander	9	10	8	8
Black	14	14	13	14
Hispanic	21	23	19	21
Multiracial/other race	2	1	2	2
Education (%)				
High school or less	36	37	34	36
Some college	35	36	34	35
College or above	29	26	32	30
Family income (%)				
Less than \$20,000	17	17	17	17
\$20,000-\$39,999	19	19	18	19
\$40,000-\$79,000	30	30	31	30
\$80,000-\$119,999	12	12	12	12
\$120,000 or above	9	8	10	9
Missing	13	14	12	13
Age group (%)				
18–24	21	29	13	20
25–29	20	22	19	21
30–39	32	29	34	32
40–49	28	20	34	28
Marital status (%)				
Married	35	36	35	34
Domestic/civil partnership	6	6	6	6
Never married	51	51	52	52
Separated/widowed/divorced	7	7	8	8
Number of children under 18 (%)				
0	58	53	63	59
1	19	20	18	19
2+	23	26	19	22

# Table A-2:Comparison of descriptive statistics: Original wave 1 sample,<br/>followed-up subsample, attrition subsample, and followed-up<br/>subsample weighted by attrition weights

Note: The first three columns were weighted using sampling weights. The fourth column was weighted using the product of sampling weight and attrition weight. Standard deviations for continuous variables are reported in parentheses.

Dependent variable: Change in fertility desires (ordinal: decreased, unchanged, increased)			
	Ordered Logit Model	Ordered Probit Model	
COVID-specific concerns (index)	-0.070 (0.030)	-0.040 (0.020)	
	[-0.129, -0.011]	[-0.079, -0.001]	
Hardships			
Lack of social interactions	-0.001 (0.060)	-0.001 (0.030)	
	[-0.119, 0.117]	[-0.060, 0.058]	
Lack of physical contact	-0.010 (0.060)	0.000 (0.030)	
	[-0.128, 0.108]	[-0.059, 0.059]	
Lack of emotional support	0.001 (0.060)	-0.001 (0.030)	
	[-0.117, 0.119]	[-0.060, 0.058]	
Lack of romantic contact	0.070 (0.050)	0.040 (0.030)	
	[-0.028, 0.168]	[-0.019, 0.099]	
Loss of income	-0.040 (0.040)	-0.020 (0.020)	
	[-0.118, 0.038]	[-0.059, 0.019]	
Race/ethnicity (ref = White)			
Asian/Pacific Islander	-0.020 (0.200)	-0.020 (0.110)	
	[-0.412, 0.372]	[-0.236, 0.196]	
Black	0.150 (0.180)	0.100 (0.090)	
	[-0.203, 0.503]	[-0.076, 0.276]	
Hispanic	0.020 (0.150)	0.010 (0.080)	
	[-0.274, 0.314]	[-0.147, 0.167]	
Multiracial/other race	0.160 (0.480)	0.110 (0.250)	
	[-0.781, 1.101]	[-0.380, 0.600]	
Number of children (ref = 0)			
1	0.070 (0.160)	0.050 (0.080)	
	[-0.244, 0.384]	[-0.107, 0.207]	
2+	-0.070 (0.160)	-0.020 (0.080)	
	[-0.384, 0.244]	[-0.177, 0.137]	
Marital status (ref = married)			
Domestic/civil partnership	-0.510 (0.250)	-0.290 (0.140)	
	[-1.000, -0.020]	[-0.564, -0.016]	
Never married	-0.400 (0.160)	-0.220 (0.080)	
	[-0.714, -0.086]	[-0.377, -0.063]	
Separated/divorced/widowed	0.230 (0.240)	0.110 (0.130)	
	[-0.240, 0.700]	[-0.145, 0.365]	

# Table A-3:Sensitivity analysis: Ordered logit and ordered probit models<br/>predicting change in fertility desires, wave 1

Dependent variable: Change in fertility desires	ordinal: decreased, unchanged, increas	ed)	
	Ordered Logit Model	Ordered Probit Model	
Age (ref = 18–24)			
25–29	0.290 (0.190)	0.150 (0.100)	
	[-0.082, 0.662]	[-0.046, 0.346]	
30–39	0.050 (0.170)	0.020 (0.100)	
	[-0.283, 0.383]	[-0.176, 0.216]	
40–49	-0.150 (0.190)	-0.090 (0.100)	
	[-0.522, 0.222]	[-0.286, 0.106]	
Family income (ref = below \$20,000)			
\$20,000–\$39,999	0.120 (0.190)	0.070 (0.100)	
	[-0.252, 0.492]	[-0.126, 0.266]	
\$40,000–\$79,999	0.170 (0.180)	0.090 (0.100)	
	[-0.183, 0.523]	[-0.106, 0.286]	
\$80,000–\$119,999	0.210 (0.230)	0.120 (0.120)	
	[-0.241, 0.661]	[–0.115, 0.355]	
\$120,000 or above	0.420 (0.270)	0.230 (0.140)	
	[-0.109, 0.949]	[-0.044, 0.504]	
Skipped	-0.040 (0.220)	-0.020 (0.120)	
	[-0.471, 0.391]	[-0.255, 0.215]	
Education (ref = high school degree or below)			
Some college	-0.120 (0.140)	-0.070 (0.070)	
	[-0.394, 0.154]	[-0.207, 0.067]	
College or above	-0.080 (0.160)	-0.040 (0.090)	
	[-0.394, 0.234]	[-0.216, 0.136]	
Gender (ref = woman)	0.130 (0.120)	0.070 (0.060)	
	[-0.105, 0.365]	[-0.048, 0.188]	
Intercepts: decrease   unchanged	-1.930 (0.360)	-1.120 (0.190)	
	[-2.636, -1.224]	[-1.492, -0.748]	
Intercepts: unchanged   increased	1.690 (0.350)	1.030 (0.190)	
	[1.004, 2.376]	[0.658, 1.402]	
N	1,593	1,593	

#### Table A-3: (Continued)

Notes: Estimated coefficients are shown. Standard errors are in parentheses; 95% confidence intervals are in brackets. Weights were applied in all models.

		Change in fertility desires, wave 1			
		Unchanged	Decreased	Increased	Total
Change in fertility desires, wave 2	Unchanged	446	85	35	566
	Decreased	62	25	30	117
	Increased	96	32	29	157
	Dropped out	507	150	96	Dropped out
	Total	1,111	292	190	2,433

#### Table A-4: Trajectories of change in fertility desires across waves